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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

- . -

GREGOIRE TOURNANT,

Defendant.

COUNT ONE

(Conspiracy to Commit Securities Fraud, Investment Adviser
Fraud, and Wire Fraud)

The Grand Jury charges:

OVERVIEW OF THE SCHEME

1. From at least in or about 2014 up through and
including at least in or aboutb March 2020, GREGOIRE TOURNANT,
the defendant, and others, engaged in a scheme to defraud
investors in a series of investment funds managed by Allianz
Global Investors U.S. LLC (“AGI US5”} that, at their height, held
over $11 billion in assets under management (the “Funds”).
During the relevant periecd, AGI UGS was an indirect, wholly-owned
subsidiary of Allianz SE (“Allianz”), one of the world’s largest
financial services companies and one of the world’s largest
insurance companies. In particular, TOURNANT and others, who
acted as portfolioc managers for the Funds, deceived the Funds

and their investors by understating the risk to which investors’
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assels were exposed, and therefore how the returns they touted
were actually generated.

2. GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, and others carried
out the scheme in three ways. First, TOURNANT and others
overstated the level of independent oversight that AGI US and
its parent company Allianz were exercising over the Funds’
strategy. Second, TOURNANT and others misrepresented the
hedging and other risk-mitigation strategies they were
undertaking to protect invester funds. Third, in order to hide
the riskiness of the Funds’ investments, TOURNANT and others
fraudulently altered documents that AGI US then provided to
investors and, in viclation of their fiduciary duties, failed to
disclose relevant risk infermation to the Funds and the Funds’
investors.

3. At all relevant times, GREGOIRE TQOURNANT, the
defendant, and others, committed the scheme in order toc hide
from investors the amount of risk they caused the Funds to incur
in order to generate the Funds’' positive returns, attract and
retain capital, and increase their compensation. Instead of
managing the Funds as promised to investors, TOURNANT deployed

an investment strategy that prioritized returns over risk
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management 1in ways tThat were fundamentally inconsistent with
those promises.
4. As a result of this scheme to defraud, investors’

funds were exposed to higher risk than promised, and investors

were deprived of information about the true risks to which their

investments were exposed.

5. This information was important to investors’ decisions
to invest and remain invested. If the truth had been provided,
some investors would never have invested in the Funds; would
have invested less in the Funds; would have redeemed their
investments; or would otherwise have altered their investment
decisions,

6. GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, and others were able
to accomplish the fraud by exploiting weaknesses in AGI US’s
internal controls. Despite TCURNANT’s claim that Allianz acted
as a “"master cop” looking over his shoulder, in truth and in
fact, and as TOURNANT knew, no one at AGI US or Allianz was
verifyving that TOURNANT and his colleagues were actually
adhering to the investment strategies promised to investors.

For example, no risk or‘compliance personnel at AGI US wverified,
attempted te verify, or were responsible for verifying that
TOURNANT and his ceclleagues were purchasing hedging positions

within the range that was represented to investors, or adhering
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to other agreed-upon risk mitigation strategies, including those
specifically promised to the Funds’ largest investor.

7. After the market dislocations following the onset of
the COVID-19 pandemic (the “COVID Crash”) in March 2020, the
Funds lost in excess of $7 billion in market value, including
over $£3.2 billicon in lost principal, faced margin calls and
redemption requests, and ultimately were shut down. More than
100 instituticnal investors, representing more than one hundred
thousand individuals, were victims of this scheme. These
institutiocnal investors included, among others, pension funds
for teachers in Arkansas, laborers in Alaska, bus drivers and
subway conductors in New York City, as well as religious
organizations, engineers, and other individuals, universities,
and charitable organizations across the United States.
Meanwhile, during the relevant period, GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the
defendant, earned from AGI US personal compensation totaling
more than $60 million.

8. Moreover, in or about the summer of 2020, after the
onset of the pandemic and in crder to avoid detection of the
fraudulent scheme, GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, obstructed
an investigation by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
{the “SEC”) into the circumstances that led to the losses in

March 2020. Among other things, TOURNANT repeatediy directed
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Stephen Bend-Nelson, a Portfcolio Manager for the Funds, to lie

to the SEC.

AGI US, THE STRUCTURED ALPHA FUNDS, AND TOURNANT

9. At all times relevant to this Indictment, AGI US was
an investment adviser registered with the SEC and headquartered
in New York City. As of in or about September 2019, AGI US had
nearly 300 employees and approximately $126 billion in assets
under management across a variety of funds.

10. At all times relevant to this Indictment, the
Structured Alpha Funds were one of the most profitable group of
funds AGI US managed. The Structured Alpha Funds contributed
more than a quarter of AGI US’s profits in recent years, and
employed a complex options trading strategy. By in or about
2020, the Structured Alpha Funds had mcre than $11 billion in
assets under management. Approximately a dozen AGI US employees
worked on the Structured Alpha Funds (the “Structured Products
Group”) .

11. The Funds in which GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant,
and others, defrauded investors were multiple private funds
within the Structured Alpha funds. These private funds (the
“Funds”} were constituted as limited liability companies

{("LLCs”) under Delaware law. TOURNANT also defrauded a German
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investor {(“Investor-1”) who was invested in a fund-of-one,
constituted under Luxembourg law.

12. While some of the Funds had multiple investers {(i.e.,
so-called “pooled investment vehicles”), some were “funds-of-
one,” with a single investor. These funds-of-one included not
only Investor-1’s fund mentioned above, but also several private
funds created for the Funds’ largest investor (“Investor-27),
which had more than $1.3 billion of principal invested in the
Funds.

13. As the Funds’ investment advisor and managing member,
AGI US and its employees, including GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the
defendant, also owed fiduciary duties to the Funds and, in most
cases, the investors in them.

14. At all times relevant to this Indictment, GREGOIRE
TOURNANT, the defendant, was the Chief Investment Officer and
the co-lead Portfolio Manager of the Structured Alpha Funds. As
described to investors, TOURNANT had “final discretion over all
investment decisions” and was “the ultimate decision maker for
portfolic constructiocon.” TOURNANT alsc was a member of the AGI
US Executive Committee from in or about March 2017 through in or

about 2019, when the Executive Committee was dissolived. From in
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or about 2015 through in or about 2019, TOURNANT was either the
highest or second-highest compensated employee of AGI US.

15. At all times relevant to this Indictment, Trevor
Taylor and Stephen Bond-Nelson were Managing Directors of AGI US
and Portfolio Managers of the Structured Alpha Funds. Taylor
served as the co-lead Portfolio Manager, alongside GREGOIRE
TOURNANT, the defendant. The Portfolic Managers were aided by,
among others, a group of Product Specialists that communicated
with investors, including a Lead Product Specialist (“Product
Specialist-17).

16. At all times relevant to this Indictment, the
Structured Alpha Funds generally followed an options-based
strategy that was marketed, including by GREGOIRE TCURNANT, the
defendant, as providing broad market exposure while maintaining
specific risk protections to safeguard against losses in the
event of a market crash.

17. This options-based strategy had two components: (i)
the “beta” component, which sought to deliver a return to
investors equivalent to a specified benchmark index, such as the
S&P; and (ii} the “alpha” component, which involved a complex
strategy using options designed to deliver additional returns
above the “beta” compeonent, regardless of whether the benchmark

index rose or fell. The “alpha” options strategy was marketed
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to investors as including hedging positions to protect against
an overnight or short-term equity-market crash.

18. AGI US did not charge a management fee, but instead
charged a 30% performance fee, calculated as 30% of each Fund’s
quarterly returns in excess of the relevant benchmark index.

The performance fees were shared bhetween the Structured Products
Group and AGI US. GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, as well as
Trevor Taylor, the other lead portfolio manager, received the
largest shares of the fees that went to the Structured Products
Group.

TOURNANT OVERSTATED THE LEVEL OF INDEPENDENT OVERSLGHT THAT AGI
US AND ITS PARENT WERE EXERCISING OVER THE FUNDS’ STRATEGY

19. In order to attract and retain investor capital for
the Structured Aipha Funds, GREGCIRE TOURNANT, the defendant,
highlighted both his own focus on managing risk, as well as AGI
US's focus on monitoring and managing risk. To this end,
TOURNANT touted the protections provided by the Funds’ position
within the global Allianz corporate structure, calling Allianz a
“master cop” that would ensure that TOURNANT followed the risk
guidelines promised to investors.

Investors Were Told That Risk was Being Carefully Monitored by
TOURNANT and Others at the Portfolio Level, and That the Funds
Offered Full Transparency

20. For example, in a February 2014 meeting with an

investor, GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, stated that he was
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not “swingling] for the fences to generate returns” in his
investment strategy and asserted that the Funds had “very strict
controls.” 'TOURNANT also stated that the strategy was “very
focused on risk,” and claimed that he perscnally spent 90% of
his day on risk and risk control. In this same meeting, Product
Specialist~1 stated in TOURNANT's presence that the Funds were
willing to provide “full transparency,” including risk reports
and scenario test results, because they had “nothing to hide.”
Product Specialist-1 described the Funds as the “anti-hedge
fund.”

Investors Were Told That Allianz was the “Master Cop” and That
Independent Risk and Compliance Functions Were in Place

21. In addition to the assurances by GREGOIRE TOURNANT,
the defendant, that he and his team were focused on ensuring
that the risk mitigation strategy promised to investors was
being followed, TOURNANT highlighted the additional protections
that investors would receive by investing in an Allianz-
affiliated fund. In a February 6, 2014 investor meeting,
TOURNANT described Allianz as a “master cop,” noting that he had
“behind me one of the largest and most conservative insurance
companies in the world monitoring every pesition that I take o
make sure that from a legal, compliance, and risk standpoint
that IT'm well within guidelines, so I have this kind of master -

master cop, if you will, on top, which is very, very different
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than if I had my own hedge fund firm, where in some form or
fashion I can overrule about anything.” TOURNANT noted that at

r

the Funds, in contrast, “I just cannot do that,” meaning run the
Funds without oversight.

22. As part of these assurances that Allianz had the risk
and compliance controls in place to ensure compliance with the
promised strategy, GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, also made
specific representations that the Funds were overseen by
independent risk management personnel. TOURNANT represented
that the Funds’ risk management strategy included a “second line
of defense” described as an “independent enterprise risk
management function” supported by an “independent service
provider” whose function provided an “independent” check on the
portfolio team’s risk managemeni protocols.

23. In a slide that was frequently included in investor
presentations, AGI US claimed that there were “wo pillars of

risk management,” and that risk was “continuously managed and

monitored at both the portfolio level by the investment team and

10
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the firm level.” The slide listed numerous controls purportedly

in place at the “firm-level.

Allianz

Clohal tnvestors

Two pillars of risk management
= fHisk ks conbingously manzged ard monifored al Lol e postiolo level by e investiment team and the firm level

Firm-lovel S . . Portfolio-tevel

. E'ea!.izal.es.and munilors.pm‘lfb!io:én'd coumarpaﬂy Tisk, * Real-fime risk management and monitoring
business Tisk, opsr_a_ﬁm_a! risk, and reputational risk based on statletieal equlty index behavior

. lndapan'dgm En'bmp!is'e Risk Managsmaai function = Proprietary acenario and stress testing models
respaasible for indepandent porifelio sisk oversight .
moniars daily lrade attivity and weekdy risk profiles < Monitoring of bid-ask spreads {or options to

L e nsere it our rstsciuring discipline i3

¢ Supported by 1DS GmbH - Analysia and Reporting - execitsble
Semices {NDS], an Independem MNICE prw&der : ’

s E\mluates : S i
- Vaﬁ amd emr.&ad ﬁhmﬁali :

- -31 stress tests, conlrihullon o rlsk hy Index pmtmcl .
~ GARCH gstimates of risk

- Dela, Gamma, and \!ﬂga analygis

~ Anaiysls of pedormance slatistics

24, In truth and in fact, however, many of the “firm-
level” activities set forth in the left column were not
conducted by Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”}, AGI US’'s
independent risk management function. ERM did not monitor daily
trade activity; run 31 stress tests; evaluate contribution to

risk by index product; look at GARCH estimates of risk; or

11
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analyze performance statistics. Also, ERM simply monitored
risk: it did neof manage risk in any meaningful way.

TOURNANT’'s Representations Regarding
Risk Mattered to Investors

25. As GREGOIRE TCURNANT, the defendant, was well aware,
risk management was important tc investors because, in
particular, investors evaluated the success of their investments
not just in terms of absolute return, but also in terms of the
risk to which the invesiments expoged them. Indeed, AGI U3

'

offered different Funds with different “alpha targets,” meaning
different returns that portfolio managers would seek to achieve
for the specific Fund. This allowed investors to choose theilr
desired risk-return profile. For example, an investor
comfortable with a higher degree of risk could invest in a
portfolio with a higher alpha target of 10%, while an investor
who wanted less risk could invest in a portfolic with a 2.5%
alpha target. Relatedly, TOURNANT knew that in evaluating the
performance cf the Funds, investors considered the manner and
extent to which the Funds’ investments were hedged.

26, GREGCIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, also understood that

investors valued the purported independence of AGI US's risk~

oversight function as a means of preventing portfolio managers

12
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from taking on excessive risk to produce returns and increase

their own compensation.

TOURNANT MISREPRESENTED THE HEDGING AND OTHER RISK-MITIGATION
STRATEGIES THAT WERE MEANT 70O PROTECT INVESTOR FUNDS

27. The second way that GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant,
and others carried out the scheme to defraud investors was by
misrepresenting the hedging and other risk-mitigaticn strategies
that they were undertaking to protect the Funds. The Funds’
marketing materials stated that the use of hedging pcsitions to
protect investors from risk was central te the investment
strategy. In a May 2016 publicly-available videctaped
interview, TOURNANT stated that hedges that would protect the
portfolios in an “extreme crash” were an “integral part of the
process,” and that the Funds’ managers considered themselves
“risk managers first, return managers second.”

28. The Funds’ primary hedging strategy involwved
purchasing long put options in a greater quantity than the put
options that the Funds sold. The majority of hedging positions
were deep out of the money puts called “tail risk hedges.” 1In
general, marketing materials for the Structured Alpha Funds
distributed during the relevant periocd claimed that the long
putes had strike distances between -10% and -25% “out of the

noney,” i.e., between -10% and -25% below the prevailing market

i3
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prices of the underiying securities.! The marketing materials
also claimed that the primary objective of thoese hedging
positions was “to protect the strateqy from a short-term equity-
market crash,” which was typically defined as a deciine of 10%
to 1% in less than five days. GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the
defendant, was present at meetings where these marketing
materials were used, and also made statements to investors that,
in sum and substance, at the time the long-put positions were
purchased, they would he placed at -10% to -25% out of the
money. Other written materials sent to investcrs stated that
the options portfolics were comprised of puts and calls, “with

strikes ranging from -25[% out of the monrey] to +1C.” Marketing

materials further stated that the hedges were designed to
mifigate the risk of a margin call, which would reguire the
liquidation of positions at unfavorable prices. The following
slide, which was contained in the standard pitchbooks that were
sent to existing and potential Structured Alpha Funds’ investors
and used at investor presentations beginning in or about 2015,

highlighted the hedging at strike distances from ~10% to ~25%

1 Long put options that are closer to the prevailing market price
of the underlying security are referred to as “closer to the
money.” In other words, a long-put option that is ~10%, or 10%
below the market price, is closer to the money than a long put
option that is -25%, or 25% below the market price.

14
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and stated that “The portfolic is protected from an overnight

crash”:

Position examples

Hedging

=  Buy pid cplions
— in 2 greater quantity than sold 2 Proftzona £ Loss zone

— Approsdmately 20% to §0% more leng puis than short at ali times

= Puts are laddered for various market outcomes te the downside

— Stike distances from -10% to -25% §. E
£ 2
= Amount typically spent on hedging annually: d 2450 g b4
- Low volatfity (VIX <18% 100 bps s gﬁ
- Mid volatility (VIX 18-28): 130-150 bps g 2
- High volatility (VIX 26+): 170200 bps B
= The primary cbjaciive of the hedging positons is to protect the strategy from ng,%g 200

a short-term eguity-market crash

— Defined as a decline of 10% o 15% in iess than S days

In Late 2015, TOURNANT Began Materially Diverging From the
Hedging Promised to Investors, Exposing Investors to Greater
Risk

29. Beginning in or about late 2015, the Structured
Products Group, at the direction of GREGCIRE TGURNANT, the
defendant, abandoned the promised hedging strategy and instead
began to purchase cheaper hedges that were further ocut cof the
money, and therefore less protective in the event of a market

crash. The change in hedging strategy was not disclosed to

15
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investors. Rather, AGI US and TOURNANT continued to represent
to current and prospective investors that the hedges were -10 to
-25% out of the money. Tc hide the reality of the hedging
positions from investors, TOURNANT altered data sent to them, as
described further below.

30. In or about late 2015, GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the
defendant, expressed anger and frustration with Trevor Taylor
and Stephen Bond-Nelson for spending too much of the Funds’
money on hedging positions. Arcund that time, the cost of
hedging had increased, meaning that continuing to purchase
hedges in the -10% to -25% range promised to investors would
reduce the Funds’ profitability, and therefore the performance
fees to which AGI US and TOURNANT were entitled. TOURNANT also
recognized that the increased cost of hedging would make it more
difficult for him to achieve the returns expected by investors,
which could cause investors to question the Structured Alpha
strategy and redeem investments. In corder to minimize spending
on hedges, TOURNANT instructed Taylor to purchase cheap hedging
positions, i.e., long put options, in a sufficient volume to
pass a stress test used by ERM, AGI US’s independent risk
management function, to monitor the Funds. These cheap hedging
positions were much further out of the money than the -10% to
-25% represented teo investors, and therefore provided less

protection in the event of a market crash. This change in

16
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strategy was not disclosed to investors. Rather, as TOURNANT
well knew, AGI US’s marketing materials for the Structured Alpha
Funds continued to contain the “-10% to -25%” representation,
31, In or about February 2018, changes in market
conditions caused the cost of hedging positions to further
increase. After this increase, the Funds began to purchase
hedges that were even further out of the money, and thus less
protective. Indeed, from the end of 2015 through February 2018,
the average strike distance at initiation of the tail risk
hedges purchased for the Structured Alpha 500 Fund was often
further than 30% cut of the money. From February 2018 through
the COVID Crash in 2020, the average strike distance at
initiation of the tail risk hedges purchased for the Structured
Alpha 500 fund was even lower, often below 40%, and at times
even below 50%, out of the money. A chart showing this
deviation from the represented hedge range and the actual range
of the tail risk hedges, from in or about January 2018 through

in or about January 2020, is shown below.

17
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32. GREGOCIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, hid his deviation
from the promised hedging strategy from investors, the Funds,
and even other AGL US emplcyees. For example, TOURNANT sent
quarterly reports to the product specialists in which he falsely
represented that the hedging distances were in line with the
represented strategy, when in fact they were significantly
further out of the money. Indeed, when Product Specialist-1,
The lead product specialist for the Funds, learned from Stephen
Bond-Nelson in or about March 2020 that the average strike
distance for the tail risk hedges of a certain Structured Alpha
Fund was 39.6% out of the money, and that the range was 22% toc
55% out of the money, Product-Specialist-1 responded, “TRH [tail

risk hedges] 22% to 505% OTM. Jesus.”

18
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TOURNANT Alsoc Misrepresented the Alpha Targets Used for the
Funds’ Largest Investor

33. In addition to increasing the risk to investors by
deviating from the promised hedging strategy and hiding the fact
that he was doing so, GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, exposed
Investor-2, which had invested over $1.3 billion in the Funds,
to additional, undisclosed risk by exceeding the contractually
agreed—-upon alpha targets that Investor-2 was promised in a
written agresment.

34. As explained earlier, “alpha targets” were the returns
that portfolioc managers would seek to achieve for a specific
Fund. GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, allowed investors in
the Structured Alpha Funds to protect themselves from the risk
of a market dislocation by selecting among funds with different
alpha targets. For example, the Structured Alpha 1000 Funds
sought returns on the alpha portion of the strategy of 1000
basis points, or 10%, on an annual basis, above the underlying
index, whereas the Structured Alpha 500 Funds sought returns on
the alpha portion of 500 basis points, or 5%. Because higher
alpha target strategies required selling and/or buying a larger
number of options positions for a given level of assets under
management, higher alpha target strategies had significantly

greater risks.

19
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35. With respect to Investor-2, the Funds’ largest
investor, GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, proposed the use of
a “variable alpha target” to reduce Investor-2’'s exposure to
downside risk. Investor—-2 initially entered inio an agreement
codifying this proposal (the “Wariable Aipha Targets Agreement”
or the “Agreement”) in or about January 2016. The Agreement
contained specific instructions as to which alpha target AGI US
was to use depending on the level of the CBOE Volatility Index
{(“VWIX”). For example, in a lower-volatility situation, AGI US
would use a lower alpha target. The Agreement provided that
TOURNANT was responsible for overseeing the Funds’ day-to-day
adherence to the Agreement.

36. In reliance on the Agreement, Investor~2 believed
that, in addition to the risk protections provided by the
hedges, GREGOTIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, and others would
further protect Investor-2's investment by selling and/or buying
fewer and less risky options at times when there was lower
market volatility. Unbeknownst to Investor-2, however, TOURNANT
deviated from the Agreement and used falsified reports fo hide
this deviation from Investor-2.

37. iIn cor about 2016 and 2017, following the signing of
the Agreement, GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, regularly
showed Investor-2 reports purporting to show the net aipha

targets that had been implemented over the prior quarter. The

20
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alpha target reports TOURNANT showed were consistent with the
Agreement, leading Investor-2 to believe that the Agreement was
being followed.

38. In truth and in fact, however, the alpha target
reports that GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, showed Investor-2
in these spreadsheets were not accurate and contained altered
data to hide TOURNANT’s divergence from the Agreement. TOURNANT
was frequently managing Investor-2's funds to a higher alpha
target than that which had been agreed upon. Indeed, in or
about 2018 and 2019, TOURNANT exceeded the agreed-upon alpha
targets in his management of Investor-2's funds by as much as
40% and in some cases as much as 200%. In deoing so, TOURNANT
exposed Investor-2 to much greater risk than it had contracted
for.

TOURNANT PROVIDED INVESTORS WITH ALTERED DATA AND FAILED TO
DISCLOSE RELEVANT RISK INFORMATION TO THE FUNDS AND THE FUNDS'
INVESTORS

39. Not only did GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, mislead
investors about how the Funds were generating income by
misrepresenting the hedging and risk-mitigation strategies he
was pursuing, he alsc sought to withhold information that could
have revealed the true riskiness cf the Funds’ investments by
altering reports and other risk-related portfolio data that were
provided to certain investors. This altered material included:

(a) open position spreadsheets; (b) risk reports; (c) projected

21
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expected value data; (d) historical performance data; (e)
holdings data; (f) attribution data; and {(g) Greeks.

TOURNANT Altered Open Position Spreadsheets to
Hide Portfolio Risk

40, In or about 2017 or 2018, GREGOIRE TQURNANT, the
defendant, directed Trevor Taylor to begin altering spreadsheets
that contained the Funds’ open positions (“Open Position
Spreadsheets”), including tail risk hedges, in order to make it
appear to investors that might request these spreadsheets that
the portfeolios’ tail risk hedges were closer to the money than
they actually were.

41. In making these alterations at the direction of
GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, Trevor Taylor substantially
changed the spreadsheets’ representations of the strike
distances for certain of the hedges owned by the Funds. For
example, in one instance Taylor altered a spreadsheet to make it
appear that the strike distance at initiation for one long put
hedge was ~24.71%, when in actuality it was -45.01%.

42 . <Consistent with his directive to Trevor Taylor,
GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, also altered tail-risk hedge
positions in Open Position Spreadsheets. TFor example, on or
about January 15, 2019, in preparation for a meeting with a
prospective investor, TCOURNANT prepared an Open Positions

Spreadsheet regarding a particular Structured Alpha fund that

22
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differed materially from the accurate data for that fund’s
holdings. Specifically, TOURNANT's version reduced or
eliminated positions, including tail-risk hedge positions and
profit-generating positions. The effect of these alteratiocns
was to make the portfolio appear to be exposed to less risk than
it actually was.

43, Later that month, on or about January 28, 2019,
GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, altered a set of historical
open position data that was sent to the same prospective
investor, see supra 9 34. In doing so, TOURNANT increased the
strike prices for over two hundred tail-risk hedge positions,
which had the effect of making the tail risk hedges loock

substantially closer to the money than they actually were (i.e.,
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more protected against downside risk). A chart showing some of

TOURNANT’ s alterations is shown below.

Active Portfollo Towrnant Actuat Difference in
Index Put s Call Expirntion Quantity Siratesy Strike Price Strike Price Strike Prices
m (5] &) 4 @ ® (&)} (8
=6 -
1. s Put 3122018 544 Tail Risk Hedge s 2000 & 1600 § 400
2. §PX Put 3272018 453 Tail Risk Hedge 2050 1,650 400
1, $P% Put 31272018 © 1180 Tail Rist: Hedge ) 2075 +11,800 <278
4 5P Put 37202018 72 Tail Risk- Hedge _ 1,950 1,300 650
5, SPX Put ' 3122018 & ‘Tail Risk Hedge tpiee 0 T 1700 400
& 5PN Put 371272018 63 Tail Risk: Hedge 2,100 1,700 400
T 8PX Put 300018 63 Tail Risk Hedge SRS R 1 B I 1 400
8 SPX Put 3572018 422 Tail Risk Hedge 100 o185 350
9. 'SPX “Put T msnone CUI100 Tail Risk Hedge 2,260 L850 350
10, 5PX Put 37912018 974 Tail Risk: Hedge o 1875 L1060 775
1 OSPR Pt 397018 © o724 Tail Risk Hedge : LBIS eL RIS
12. 8PX Put 3192018 460 Tail Risk Hedge o181 1,100 775
13,80% 7 o Pat 390018 40 Tail Risk: Hedge s 1,00 775
14 SPX Pu 3008 $49 Taii Risk Hedge 1,875 1,100 s
15 $PX ~Put CUUAM0IE A28 “T'nil Risk Hedge : CRETs L0 11
16, SPX Put 3192018 340 Tail Risk Hedge 1875 L100 775
17.8PR o Pa 0 UN9I008 315 TailRiskHedge = - LTS R B [ R [
18 88X Put 31912018 277 Tail Risi: Hedge 1875 Copwe TS
19.8BX 0 i Pat - 30018 : 277 - TallRiskHedge - -0 .- L8718 00 C L1008 975
20 8PX Put 31912018 216 Tail Risk Hedge 1875 Lito s
ICEPX Pk oo BenE 182 Tail Risk- Hedge - -0 08500 100 7is
22 8PX Pat 3192018 181 Tail Risk Hedge 81 1100 775
1SPX o Bar o 3812018 120 Tail Risk: Hedge CLOULEIS h T LI o s
24, SPX Put 3142018 109 Tail Risk: Hedge S 1000 1,706 300
25 8PX - CPut o0 - 3147018 : ‘o1 “Tail Risk Hedge : g0 1,700 300
26, SPX Pat 311612018 1450 Tail Risi: Hedge 1,960 1,100 500
7. SPX Pt IGO0 480 Tail Risk Hedge 1,900 - 1,100 500
8. §PX Put 311612018 469 Tail Risk Hedge 1,900 1,100 200
29 88X ' Put C U 3nen0Is 450 Tail Risk Hedge 2,015 1475 © 50
30, §PX Put 341612018 157 Taii Risk Hedge 2475 1,500 575
3L 8PX Put 316018 14 Tail Risk Hedge 1,980 1,100 - ‘800
32 8PX Pur 37162018 147 Tail Risk Hedge S 130 Lo 200
33 SPX Put 3162018 100 Tail Risk Hedge 1,900 U100 300
34 5PN Put 31612018 7% Tail Risk Hedge 2125 1,550 575
35 SPX Fut 31602018 40 TailRisk Hedge T e S 1480 - ES0
36 5PX Put 3092018 230 Tail Risk Hedge _ 1950 1,600 350
7. $PX “Pat L 3992018 1430 ‘Tail Risk Hedge ‘1950 : S)400 7 350
3§ SPX Pwt seaols 118 Tail Risk Hedge 1,950 S Lee 330
39, SPX Put B2 111 SR | ‘Tail Risk: Hedge i 1550 - 1,600 ©o-as0
5. 5P Put aane S§ Tail Risk Hedge 1,850 1,600 230

TOURNANT Altered Holdings Data to Hide Portfolio Risk

44, ©On at least one other occasion, GREGCIRE TOURNANT, the
defendant, altered holdings data to make it appear as though a
particular fund had more hedges in place than it actually had,
and therefore that the fund’s portfolic was less risky. In ozr

about May 2018, an investor (“Investor~3”) asked for a snapshot
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of a single day’s holdings for a particular fund, among other
data. TOURNANT sent Investor-3 altered holdings data, in which
he had changed 31 of the 57¢ open positions from negative to
positive. This meant that an option that was a short put, i.e.,
a position that might lose money in a market downturn, was
altered to look like a long put, i.e., a hedge that might earn
money in a market downturn. TOURNANT also changed
“configuration codes” that briefly described these options
positions. For example, he changed configquration codes for
certain options positions from “short puts” or “VIX short calls”
to “tail risk hedge” or “tall risk positions.” The overall
effect was to fraudulently show a portfolio that appeared much
more protected against risk than the fund’s actual portfolio.
TOURNANT Altered Risk Reports to Hide Portfolio Risk

45, Beginning in or about 2015, Investment Data Services
GmbH - Analysis and Reporting Services (“IDS”), a fully-owned
but independent subsidiary of Allianz, began preparing daily
“risk reports” for the Funds, showing projected gains or losses
to each fund in different market-downturn scenarios. Prior to
this time, these risk reports hadlbeen provided by a team within
the Structured Products Group.

46, In communications with investors, AGI US advertised

its use of these risk reports to ensure that risk in the Funds
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was being managed in a manner consistent with the strategy
promised teo investors. AGI US alsc touted the fact that the
risk reports were prepared by an entity that was independent of
the portfolio management team that would not be subject to the
same conflicts of interest.

47. During the relevant Time period, numercus investors
requested copies of these risk reports and received them from
the Structured Products Greoup at the direction of GREGOIRE
TOURNANT, the defendant. The fact that risk reports were
purportedly independently generated was important to these
investors because it provided an independent check on the
investment team,

48. Beginning in or about 2014, GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the
defendant, directed Stephen Bond-Nelson to begin altering risk
reports that had been prepared by IDS before they were sent to
investors, so as to understate projections regarding the losses
that the Funds would sustain in market downturns. Bond-Nelson
followed TOURNANT’ s direction and altered numercus risk reports
that he and TOURNANT believed would be, and were, sent to

investors, as well as to consultants that advised dozens of
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additional investors. TOURNANT himself altered at leasi one
risk report that he knew would be, and was, sent to an investor.

4%, One example of a portion of an altered repcrt that was
sent to an investor is below:

'Allnnz Global Investors
3630 Broadway
Kew York, NY 10015

;A& of Date 032512018

Adllanz Globatlnvestars. -
1633 Broadway
Hawe York, HY 10619

Aaood Dt 322018

-15.41%
-1.03%

Altered 1DS Rlsk Report

50. GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, instructed Stephen
Bond-Nelson to alter the risk reports so that none of the
scenarios showed losses of greater than approximately -10%.

Prior fto these alteraticns, some scenarics shoewed much grealter
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losses, in some cases more than -20%. Bond-Nelson made these
alterations for years, until the ccllapse of the Funds in 2020.
51. By altering and directing the alteration of risk
reports, GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, corrupted the
independence of the data in those reports. In doing so, he
deprived investors of information that would have been relevant
to their investment decisions — namely that the repcrts they
were considering had been altered by AGI US employees who had an
incentive to understate the risk of the Funds’ investments.
Moreover, the alterations that TOURNANT in fact made and
directed misled investors bv systematically understating IDS’s
projections regarding the risk to which the Funds were exposed.

TOURNANT Altered Expected Value Data to Hide Portfolio Risk

52. 1In order to further hide from investcrs the potential
downside risk teo which their investments were exposed, and
perpetuate his fraudulent scheme, beginning in or about 2017,
GREGOIRE TCURNANT, the defendant, and Trevor Taylor, at
TOURNANT’ s direction, also manipulated so-called “expected
value” performance projections that were shown to actual and
prospective investors.

53. GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, and the other
portfolio managers for the Funds developed expected value (“EV”)
spreadsheets in order to project how individual positions in the
Structured Alpha portfolios would perform in the event of market
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downturns. An example of an EV sheet dated Augqust 4,

shown below:

SPX

8/04/2017

Trading Daysto E

% Change from Current
o Lhang Index Level at Expiration S Payoff
index Leveis

-4.0% 2,377.76 - $92,525
-4.5% 2,365.37 492,525
-5.0% 2,352,898 566,582
-5.5% 2,340.60 $20,761
-6.0% 2,328.22 {425,061)
-6.5% 2,315.84 {470,882)
-7.0% 2,303.45 {$116,703]
-7.5% 2,291.07 {&‘:162,,_ 25
-8. 0% 2,278.68 {5
-8.5% 2,266.30 (s
-9.0% 2,253.92 {52
-9.5% 2,241.53 {43
-10.0% 2,229.15 {s
-10.5% 2,216.76 (s
-11.0%% 2,204.38 [
-11.5% 2,191.99 {55
-12.0% 2,179.61 155

2017, is

54. The left column of the chart above shows the change in

the S5&P index being projected on each row

{the full chart

included a range of +12.5% tc ~12.5%). The middle column shows

the projected index ievel at expiration.

The right column,

which is the column that was altered by GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the

defendant, and Trevor Taylor,

at TOURNANT’s direction,

shows the

expected cash payoff at expiration for a particular position.
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The payoff numbers that are shaded in black show projected
losses.

55, 1In or about 2017, GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant,
and Trevor Taylor, at TOURNANT’s direction, began to show
spreadsheets with altered EV data to investors during investor

meetings. These types of meetings were often referred to as

“demo meetings,’” during which TOURNANT and Taylor (in separate
meetings), showed investors different tools that the Structured
Preducts Group was using in the day-to-day operation of the
Funds.

56. In or about 2017, GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant,
directed Trevor Tavloer to begin altering EV sheets that were
going to ke shown te investors during demo meetings.
Specifically, TOURNANT indicated to Taylor that he did not want
investors to see EV data that reflected multiples of loss that
waere more than five times the premium that had been collected on
the options trade.

57. The manual alteration of EV data was tedious and time-
consuming. TIn an effort to make the alterations more efficient,
on or about August 5, 2017, Trevor Taylor emailed GREGOIRE
TOURNANT, the defendant, a password-protected document
containing an itemized guide with eighteen step-by-step
directions on how to efficiently alter the EV data. As shown in

the excerpt below, in instruction number seventeen, Taylor
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indicated to TOURNANT that he should be careful not to

inadvertently reveal to investors that they were being shown

altered EV numbers:

17) During a presentation, | would not put the mouse over any cells that are populated thereby showing its formula
unless you did a copy paste special value.

Taylor alszo included other instructions to ensure that investors
did not discover that the EV Spreadsheets were altered.

58. GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, and Trevor Taylor,
often made numerocus alterations to the EV spreadsheets. For
example, on or about December 1, 2018, in preparation for a
meeting with a prospective investor that was scheduled for on or
about December 3, 2018, Taylor made approximately 146
alterations to the EV projections for the Structured Alpha US
Equity 250 Fund. Further, on or about December 3, 2018, the day
before a meeting with a different prospective investor, TOURNANT
made approximately 131 alterations to the EV projections for the
Structured Alpha US Equity 250 Fund. Many of TOURNANT' s
alterations were round number changes. In certain cases,
investors made the decision to invest after receiving the
altered data.

TOURNANT Altered Performance Data to Hide Portfolio Risk

59. Between in or about 2016 through in or about March
2020, GREGCIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, altered and directed

Stephen Bond-Nelson and Product Specialist-1 to alter daily
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performance data that was sent fto investors by “smoothing” the
data to reduce the magnitude of the largest losses as well as
the magnitude of the gains on surrounding dates as a
counterbalance. This made it appear as though the Funds were
less respcnsive to market downturns, and therefore less risky in
the event of such a downturn. Daily performance data showed,
day by day, the percentage by which a particular portfolic’s
value had changed since the day before. 1If the portfolio had
lost 8% of its projected wvalue from Cctober 30 to October 31,
for example, the daily performance for October 31 would be -8%.
Several investors requested this data in order to assess, among
other things, the day-to-day velatility of the Funds, which they
viewed as an important indicator of the riskiness of their
investments.

60. Between in or about 2016 and in or about 2020,
GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, caused altered performance
data to be sent to at least three investors in the Funds, which
together invested a total of approximately $230 million.

6l. For example, on or about June 30, 2016, Investor-4
emalled members of the Structured Products Group requesting
daily performance data. The same day, a product specialist for
the Funds (“Product Specialist~2”) emailed the Performance
Group, the AGI US team that provided back-office services to the

Structured Preoducts Group, requesting daily returns for the
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Structured Alpha 1000 Plus Fund since inception. Product
Specialist-2 received the data and forwarded it to GREGOIRE
TOURNANT, the defendant, asking if he was comfortable sending it
to Investor-4 and noting that “August 24th is a large outlier.”
In the spreadsheet provided by the PerformancerGroup, the daily
performance number for August 24, 2015, a period of significant
market upheaval, was -18.26%.

62. On cr about July 2, 2016, GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the
defendant, responded to Product Specialist-2 and Product
Specialist-1, “See attached—you can send this file to [Investor-
41.” In the attachment, TOURNANT had made several changes to
the daily numbers. For example, TOURNANT had changed the daily
performance number for August 24, 2015 to -9.26, i.e., a round
number change of nine from the original daily performance number
of ~18.26%. As described above, this made the Fund appear less
reactive to the late August 2015 market upheaval. On or about
July 4, 2016, Product Specialist-1 sent TOURNANT’s altered data
to Investor-4,.

63. The chart below reflects some of the other changes
that GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, made to the daily
performance data sent to Investor-4 on or about July 4, 2016.
From on or about August 21, 2015 through on or about September
2, 2015, fcr example, TOURNANT made the negative daily numbers

look smaller {August Z1, August 24, and September 1) and
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decreased the positive daily numbers {Rugust 25-28, 31, and
September 2). Many of TOURNANT's alterations involwved round

number changes; for example, Tournant altered ~5.42 to ~3.42,

and -18.26 to -9.26.

Performance Group Data Tournant Altered Data
2015-08-21 2015-08-21 542 2015-08-21 2015-08-21 -342
2015-08-22 2045-08-22 6.00 2015-08-22 2015-08-22 0.00
2015-08-23 2015-08-23 0.00 2015-08-23 2015-08-23 0.00
2015-08-24 2015-08-24 -182% 2015-08-24 2015-08-24 9.26
2015-08-25 2015-08-25 535 2015-08-25 2015-08-25 1.35
2015-08-26 2015-08-26 8.37 2015-08-26 2015-08-26 1.27
2015-08-27 2015-08-27 3.40 2015-08-27 2015-08-27 1.30
2015-08-28 2015-08-28 0.70 2015-08-28 2015-08-28 0.2
2015-08-28 2015-D8-29 0.00 2015-08-29 2015-08-29 0.00
2015-08-30 2015-08-30 0.00 2015-08-30 2015-08-30 0.00
2015-08-31 2015-08-31 0.17 2015-08-31 2015-08-31 G.07
20115-08-01 2015-09-01 -4 58 2015-00-01 2015-09-01 -2.58
2015-00-02 2015-09-02 £ .67 2015-09-02 20150802 359

TOURNANT Altered the Greeks to Hide Portfolio Risk

64. In a further effort to make the Funds’ investments
appear less risky than tThey were, GREGOIRE TQURNANT, the
defendant, also altered and directed Stephen Bond-Nelson to
alter the “Greeks,” standard metrics in optiocns trading that are
typically used to provide measures of risk associated with
options positions.

65. Although GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, sometimes
teld investors that the Greeks were not a helpful way of

tracking the riskiness of the Funds’ investments, he knew that
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the portfoclioc managers routinely tracked them, and that certain
investors viewed them as useful and requested them. 1In
recognition of this fact, at times, TOURNANT altered the Greeks
before providing them tc investors to make it appear that the
portfolios were less risky.

66, For example, between in cr about December 2015 and in
or about June 2012, GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, sent a
Structured Alpha investor (“Investor-5") monthly emails that
included the Greeks, as well as other information. These Greeks
were almost always altered to reduce the implied riskiness of
the Funds’ portfolios.

TOURNANT Altered Attribution Data To Hide Portfolio Risk

6 7. To further perpetuate the fraudulent scheme, GREGOIRE
TOQURNANT, the defendant, altered attribution data that was sent
to at least one investor. Aitribution data showed the net
realized gains attributable to the Funds’ three types of
pesitions, one of which was hedging positicns. Some investors
considered the attribution data for hedging, which showed the
return that hedges gave for a given month, to be a useful
indicator of how much the Funds were spending on hedging.

68. GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, manualiy altered the
attribution data sent to Investor-1 to, among other things, make
it appear as though Investor-1’'s fund was spending more on

hedging than it actually was. TOURNANT understood that this
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information was important to Investor-1. After one particular
instance in or about October 2017 when TOURNANT caused altered
attribution data to be sent to Investor-1, TOURNANT was informed
that Investor-1 was “wery impressed” with the information
provided, “especially . . . the attribution analysis.”

THE COVID CRASH

69. Beginning in or about February 2020 and worsening in
March 2020, the markets went through a period of increased
volatility and severe dislocations. During this COVID Crash,
the Funds collectively lost more than $7 billion in value.
UGltimately, the Funds were all shut down. Investor victims lost
over $3.2 billion in principal. As noted above, these victims
included pension funds for retirees, religious organizations,
and essential workers, as well as universities and charitable
organizations. These investors were exposed to these losses
because they had been deprived of truthful information about the
riskiness of their investments - information that would have
caused at least certain investors to redeem their investments,
or to never invest in the first place.

TOURNANT ATTEMPTED TO OBSTRUCT AN SEC INVESTIGATION

70. ©On or about July 15, 2020, the SEC informed AGI US
that it was conducting an investigation and sent a document
request to AGI US. As seb forth below, in the weeks and months

that followed, GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, took steps to
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obstruct the SEC investigation, including by instructing Stephen
Bond-Nelson to iie to AGI US’s lawyers, knowing that such lies
woulid be passed on to the SEC.

71. For example, on cor about August 4, 2020, lawyers for
AGI U8 sent Bond-Nelson a deocument setting forth the differences
between certain risk reports produced by IDS and risk reports
sent to investors. The subject line of the email included “SEC
Request Ttem 6 — Risk Reports.” In the email, the lawyers
stated that they wanted to explain the differences to the SEC.
Bond-Nelson spoke with GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, before
responding, and TOURNANT told Bond-Nelson to respond to the
lawyers’ email by providing information that both TOURNANT and
Bond-Nelson knew was false. Bond-Nelson, following TOURNANT' s
instructions, emailed the lawyers for AGI US, copying TOURNANT,
and provided false information, including that the alterations
were done to more accurately model the increase in volatility
for certain scenarios. TOURNANT then responded to Bond-Nelson
only, writing “Great thanks.”

STATUTORY ALLEGATIONS

72. From at least in or about 2014 through in or about
2020, in the Southern District of New York and elsewhere,
GREGOIRE TCURNANT, the defendant, and others known and unknown,
including Trevor Taylor and Stephen Bond-Nelson, willfully and

knowingly combined, conspired, confederated, and agreed tcgether
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and with each cther to commit offenses against the United
States, namely (a) to commit fraud in the purchase and sale of
securities, in violation of Title 15, United States Code,
Sections 787j (b} and 78ff, and Title 17, Code of Federal
Regulations, Section 240.10b-5; (b} to commit investment adviser
fraud, in wviolation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections
80b-6 and 80b;l7; {¢) to commit investment adviser fraud, in
violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sectiocns 80b-6 and
80b-17, and Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Sectiocn
275.206(4)-8(a); and (d) to commit wire fraud, in violation of
Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.

Objects Of the Conspiracy

73. 1t was a part and an object of the conspiracy that
GREGQOIRE TQURNANT, the defendant, and others known and unknown,
including Trevor Taylor and Stephen Bond-Nelson, willfully and
knowingly, directly and indirectly, by use of the means and
instrumentalities of interstate commerce, and of the mails, and
of the facilities of natioral securities exchanges, would and
did use and employ, in connection with the purchase and sale of
securities, manipulative and deceptive devices and contrivances,
in viclation of Title 17, Code of Federal Regqulations, Section
240.10b-5, by: (a} employing devices, schemes, and artifices to
defraud; (b) making untrue statements of material facts and

omitting to state material facts necessary in order to make the
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statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they
were made, not mislieading; and {(c) engaging in acts, practices,
and courses of business which operated and would operate as a
fraud and deceit upon persons, in viclation of Title 15, United
States Code, Sections 783 (b) and 78ff.

74. It was a further part and an object of the conspiracy
that GREGOIRE TCURNANT, the defendant, and others known and
unknown, while acting as investment advisers, willfully and
knowingly used the mails and other means and instrumentalities
of interstate commerce, directly and indirectly, to (a) employ
devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud clients and
prospective clients; (b) engage in transactions, practices, and
courses of business which operated as a fraud and deceit upon
clients and prospective clients; and (¢} engage in acts,
practices, and courses of business which were fraudulent,
deceptive, and manipulative, in violation of Title 15, United
States Code, Sections 80b-6 and 80b-17.

75. It was further part and an cobject of the conspiracy
that GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, and others known and
unknown, including Trevor Taylor and Stephen Bond-Nelson, while
acting as investment advisers to pooled investment wvehicles,
willfully and knowingly used the mails and other means and
instrumentalities of interstate commerce, directly and

indirectly, to make untrue statements of material facts and
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omitted to state material facts necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances they were made, not
misleading, to investors and prospective investors in the pooled
investment vehicles, and engaged in acts, practices, and courses
of business which were fraudulent, deceptive, and manipulative
with respect to investors and prospective investors in the
pooled investment vehicles, in viclation of Title 15, United
States Code, Sections 80b-6(4)and 80b-17, and Title 17, Code of
Federal Regulatiocns, Section 275.206(4)-8(a).

76. It was a further part ard an cbject <of the conspiracy
that GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, and others known and
unknown, including Trevor Taylor and Stephen Bond-Nelson,
willfully and knowingly, having devised and intending to devise
a scheme and artifice to defraud, and forxr obtaining money and
property by means of false and fraudulent pretenses,
representations, and promises, would and did transmit and cause
to be transmitted by means of wire, radio, and television
communication in interstate and foreign commerce, writings,
signs, signals, pictures, and sounds for the purpose of
executing such scheme and artifice, in violation of Title 18,
United States Code, Section 1343,

Overt Acts

77. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the

illegal objects thereof, GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, and

40




Case 1:22-cr-00276-LTS Document 2 Filed 05/17/22 Page 41 of 49

others known and unknown, including Trevor Taylor and Stephen
Bond-Nelson, committed the follewing overt acts, among others,
in the Southern District of New York and elsewhere:

a. In or about 2015, in order to minimize spending on
hedges, TOURNANT instructed Taylor to begin purchasing cheaper
hedge positions for the Funds that were inconsistent with the
hedges promised to investors.

. On or about July 2, 2016, TOURNANT altered certain
daily performance numbers for the Structured Alpha 1000 Plus Fund
and caused the altered data to be sent through AGI US’s Manhattan
office to Investor-4, who was outside the United States.

C. On or about November 6, 2016, TOURNANT emailed
Investor-5 altered “Greeks” for the Structured Alpha 1060 Fund and
the Structured Alpha 1000 Plus Fund.

d. Cn or about January 28, 2019, TOURNANT altered
open position spreadsheets that were in turn sent to a
prospective investor.

e. On or about May 3, 2019, Bond-Nelson altered four
stress test scenarios included in a risk report for the Structured
Alpha 500 Fund (the “April 2019 Altered Risk Report”).

. On or about May 8, 2019, the April 2019 Altered
Risk Report was reformatted and sent to an investor.

q. On or about June 18, 2019, with TOURNANT's

approval, Taylor altered expected value, or EV, sheets, which they
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intended to show to an investor, to reduce projected loss figures
by approximately b50%.

h. On or about July 2, 2019, Bond-Nelscn altered a
risk report for the Structured Alpha 10600 Plus Fund, which was
then emailed to an investor overseas via AGI US’s Manhattan office.

i. On or about July 10, 2019, in anticipation of an
investor meeting, Taylor made alterations to an excel spreadsheet
that contained the current open positions within the Structured
Alpha Global Equity 350 Fund.

(Title 18, United States Code, Secticn 371.)

COURT TWO
{Securities Fraud)

The Grand Jury further charges:

78. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 71
and 77 of this Indictment are repeated and realleged as if fully
set feorth herein.

79. From at least in or about 2014 through in or about
2020, in the Southern District of New York and elsewhere,
GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, willfully and knowingly,
directly and indirectly, by use of the means and
instrumentalities of interstate commerce, and of the mails and
of the facilities of national securities exchanges, used and
employed, in connectiocn with the purchase and sale of
securities, manipulative and deceptive devices and contrivances,

in violation of Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section
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240.10b-5, by: (a) employing devices, schemes and artifices to
defraud; (b) making untrue statements of material facts and
omitting to state material facts necéssary in order to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they
were made, not misleading; and {(c) engaging in acts, practices
and courses of business which operated and would operate as a
fraud and deceit upon persons, to wit, TOURNANT engaged in a
scheme to defraud investors in certain Structured Alpha Funds by
making false and misleading statements to current and
prospective investors that substantially understated the risks
being taken with respect to certain funds’ investments.

(Title 15, United States Code, Sections 787j(b) & 78ff;

Title 17, Code of Federal Regulaticns, Section

240,10b-5; Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.)

COUNT THREE
(Investment Adviser Fraud)

The Grand Jury further charges:

80. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 71
and 77 of this Indictment are repeated and realleged as 1if fuily
set forth herein.

81l. From at least in or about 2014 through in or about
2020, in the Scuthern District <f New York and elsewhere,
GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, while acting as an investment
adviser, willfully and knowingly used the mails and other means

and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, directly and
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indirectly, to (a}) employ devices, schemes, and artifices to
defraud clients and prospective clients; (b} engage in
transactions, practices, and courses of business which operated
as a fraud and deceit upon clients and prospective clients; and
(c) engage in acts, bractices, and ccurses of businesgss which
were fraudulent, deceptive, and manipulative, to wit, TOURNANT,
in violation of their fiduciary duties, engaged in a scheme to
defraud the Structured Alpha Funds by failing to disclose to the
Funds the true risks being taken with respect to their
investments.

{Title 15, United States Code, Sectiocons 80b-6 and 80b-17; Title
18, United States Code, Section 2.)

COUNT FOUR
{(Investment Adviser Fraud)

The Grand Jury further charges:

82. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 71
and 77 of this Indictment are repeated and realleged as if fully
set forth herein.

83. From at least in or about 2014 through in or about
2020, in the Southern District of New York and elsewhere,
GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, while acting as an investment
adviser to pooled investment vehicles, willfully and knowingly
used the mails and other means and instrumentalities of
interstate commerce, directly and indirectly, to make untrue

statements of material facts and omitited to state material facts
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necessary to make the statements made, in light of the

circumstances they were made, not misleading, to investors and

prospective investors in the pcoled investment wvehicles, and

engaged in acts, practices, and courses of business which were
fraudulent, deceptive, and manipulative with respect to
investors and prospective investors in the pooled investment
vehicles, to wit, TOURNANT, engaged in a scheme to defraud
investors and prospective investors in pooled investment
vehicles, specifically the Structured Alpha Funds, by making
false statements to investors and prospective investors and
failing to disclese to investors and prospective investors the
true risks being taken with respect to the Funds’ investments,
in some cases in violation of their fiduciary duties.

(Title 15, United States Code, Sections B80b-6{4) and 80b-17;
Titie 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 275.206(4)-8;
Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.)

COUNT FIVE
{(Conspiracy to Obstruct Justice)

The Grand Jury further charges:

84. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 71
and 77 of this Indictment are repeated and realleged as if fully
set forth herein.

85. From in cor about July 2020 through at least in or
about May 2021, in the Southern District of New York and
elsewhere, GREGOIRE TQURNANT, the defendant, and others known

and unknown, including Stephen Bond-Nelson, willfully and
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knowingly combined, conspired, confederated, and agreed together

and with each other to commit an offense against the United

States, namely, to obstruct justice.
86. It was a part and an object of the conspiracy that

GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, and others known and unknown,

including Stephen Bond-Nelson, willfully, krowingly, and
corruptly would and did influence, cbstruct, and impede the due
and preoper administraticn of the law under which a pending
proceeding was being had before a department and agency of the
United States, to wit, an investigation by the SEC’s Division of
Enforcement, in wviolation of Title 18, United States Code,
Section 1505,

Overt Acts

87. 1In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the
illegal objecits thereof, GREGOIRE TOURNANT, the defendant, and
others known and unknown, including Stephen Bond-Nelson,
committed the following overt acts, among cthers, in the
Southern District of New York and elsewhere:

a. In or about August 2020, TOURNANT discussed with
Bond-Nelson providing false information to in-house counsel to
cover up their participation in the scheme to defraud, including
alterations to risk reports sent to investors and prospective

investors.
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D, On or about August 5, 2020, Bond-Nelson included
knowingiy false information in an email response to AGI US in-
house counsel, who TOURNANT and Bond-Nelson understood were
seeking information to respond to a subpoena from the SEC regarding
the Structured Alpha Funds.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.)

FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONS

88. As a result of committing one or more of the offenses
charged in Counts One through Four of this Indictment, GREGOIRE
TOURNANT, the defendant, shall forfeit to the United States,
pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Secticn 981{(a) (1) (C)
and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461, all property,
real and personal, that constitutes or is derived from proceeds
traceable to the commission of said offenses, including but not
limited to a sum of money in United States currency representing
the amount of proceeds traceable to the commission of said
offenses that the defendant personally obtained.

Substitute Assets Provision

89, If any of the above-described forfeitable property, as
a result of any act or omission by the defendant:
a. cannot be located wupon the exercise of due
diligence;

b. has been transferred or scold to, or deposited with,
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a third party; has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the
court;

C. has been substantially diminished in wvalue; or

d. has been commingled with other property which
cannot be divided without difficulty:
it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21,
United States Code, Section 853(p), and Title 28, United States
Code Section 2461, to seek forfeiture of any other property of
the defendants up to the value of the forfeitable property

described above.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 981 (a) (1) {C);
Title 21, United States Code, Section 853 (p):
Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461.)
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Form No. USA-33s-274 (Ed., 9-25-58)

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK~

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
- v, -
GREGOIRE TOURNANT,

Defendant.

SEALED INDICTMENT

22 Cr.

{Title 15, United States Code, Sections
783 (b), 78ff, 80b-6, & 80b-17; Title 17, Code
of Federal Regulations, Sections 240.10b-5 &

275.2060(4)-8; and Title 18, United States
Code, Sections 2 & 371.)

DAMIAN WILLIAMS
United States Attorney
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